FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/11/2019 3:46 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96830-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JESSICA L. WRIGLEY, individually, and as Personal Representative for the Estate of A.C.A., Deceased, and O.K.P., a minor child, and I.T.W., a minor child, by and through their biological mother, JESSICA WRIGLEY,

Respondents,

v.

I. INTRODUCTION

By expanding the statutory duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050 to include allegations of possible future abuse or neglect, the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's precedent and leads to an unworkable result. Under RCW 26.44, the Department must conduct an investigation of alleged abuse or neglect and, based on verified information, prepare a report determining whether the allegations are founded or unfounded. It is impossible to make a finding about an alleged incident that has not yet happened.

The Court of Appeals extended the scope of the statutory duty beyond the Legislature's express intent and beyond this Court's reading of the statute because it was concerned that the Department otherwise would not have a duty to protect children from future harm. *Wrigley*, 5 Wn.App.2d 909, 928, 428 P.3d 1279 (2018). But in RCW 74.13.031(3), which the Court of Appeals ignored, the Legislature created a separate process directing the Department's investigations when a risk of future harm to children is alleged. As recognized by this Court, the investigation triggered under RCW 26.44 is tailored to allegations that a child has been abused or neglected. The investigation triggered under RCW 74.13.031(3) is tailored to allegations that a recent act or omission presents an imminent risk of serious harm to a child.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's construction of RCW 26.44, misapplies that statute, and effectively requires the Department to squander its limited investigatory resources attempting to verify and make findings about incidents that have not transpired. The Court of Appeals' decision thus presents both a conflict with this Court's precedent and a substantial matter of public importance warranting review.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

The Department of Children, Youth, and Families¹ petitions for review of the partially published decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals, *Wrigley, et al. v. Dep't of Social and Health Services, et al.*, 5 Wn.App.2d 909, 428 P.3d 1279 (2018), *reconsideration denied*, January 10, 2019 (attached as App. A).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals' conclusion that RCW 26.44.010 and .050 require an investigation of allegations of potential future abuse conflicts with this Court's precedent, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

¹ This case was filed originally against the Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS). On July 1, 2018, the powers, duties, and functions of the Children's Administration, within DSHS, were transferred to the newly formed Department of Children, Youth, and Families. RCW 43.216.906.

- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals' conclusion that RCW 26.44.010 and .050 require investigation of allegations of potential future abuse conflicts with the clear legislative intent, and results in strained and unworkable consequences, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals' conclusion that investigation of allegations of potential future abuse is required under RCW 26.44.050 is unnecessary given that RCW 74.13.031(3) already requires the Department to investigate when a child is at imminent risk by a primary caregiver, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

1. A.A. Was Removed From His Mother's Care Due to Allegations of Abuse

A.A. was born in October 2005 to Jessica Wrigley and Anthony Viles. CP 7. Five years later the Wrigley family (A.A., his mother Jessica, stepfather Jared Wrigley, and younger half-brother I.W.), relocated to Washington State from Idaho. CP 274.

In the summer of 2011, the Department received multiple referrals alleging that A.A. was being abused by his mother, Jessica Wrigley, and/or his stepfather, Jared Wrigley. CP 356, 370, 381, 387. Ultimately, the

Department made findings of maltreatment against both the Wrigleys, and of physical abuse against Ms. Wrigley. CP 66, 103-25.

2. After the Department Filed for Dependency on A.A., His Biological Father, Anthony Viles, Sought Custody

On October 5, 2011, the Department filed a dependency petition regarding A.A., based on its investigation into the Wrigleys. CP 85-91. A.A.'s father, Mr. Viles, who still resided in Idaho, indicated he wanted custody of A.A. CP 81. The petition informed the court of a prior restraining order between Ms. Wrigley and Mr. Viles. CP 90. The Department ran a National Crime Information Center (NCIC) background check on Mr. Viles and found no crimes that would have disqualified Mr. Viles from having custody of his son. CP 210-11. While the Court of Appeals' opinion purports to summarize Mr. Viles' criminal history, the undisputed facts indicate that many of the items in Mr. Viles' records were arrests, not convictions. CP 213-43. And, as the opinion ultimately acknowledges in a footnote, Mr. Viles' last conviction for violent assaultive behavior occurred when he was a juvenile, 11 years before requesting custody of A.A. Wrigley, 5 Wn.App.2d at 914 n.5.

The Court of Appeals' opinion also omits information obtained by the Department. When the social worker conducted his initial investigation, the mother of Mr. Viles' child in Idaho indicated he was "a good father to our daughter and is good with my two other children" and "[i]s a good caregiver and father figure." CP 250. Mr. Viles' live-in girlfriend, who had two children of her own, told the social worker that Mr. Viles was a great father to her two girls and that he was "always very calm and is never angry." CP 251. There is no evidence in the record of any CPS referrals made against Mr. Viles in Idaho.

Throughout the shelter care process², Mr. Viles continued to make it known that he wanted custody of A.A. Although A.A. was never found to be dependent, the court conducted several hearings regarding Mr. Viles' request for custody. CP 290-321, 330-338. On January 30, 2012, the court heard Mr. Viles' motion to have A.A. released from shelter care and placed with him in Idaho. CP 203-04, 291-321. At that hearing, Mr. Wrigley's attorney indicated that she had heard from Ms. Wrigley that Mr. Viles was violent and that Ms. Wrigley had "grave concern regarding [A.A.]'s well-being." CP 304. But Ms. Wrigley's attorney also represented to the court that Ms. Wrigley "ha[d] no strong position either way" on a placement with

² Shelter care is "temporary physical care" of a child somewhere other than his home. RCW 13.34.030(15) (2010). While a hearing on a child's shelter care status is typically held within 72 hours of the child being placed in shelter care, a parent may request the hearing be continued. RCW 13.34.065(1) (2010). The purpose of the hearing is to determine whether the child can be safely returned home or must remain in out-of-home care while adjudication of the dependency is pending. RCW 13.34.065(1)(a) (2010). Thus, at the shelter care hearing the court does not determine whether the child is dependent. RCW 13.34.065(4) (2010). Dependency is determined at a formal fact-finding hearing on the petition later in the process. RCW 13.34.110 (2010). All statutes cited in this briefing are attached at App. B.

Mr. Viles. CP 305. The judge ultimately ordered that A.A. be released from shelter care and placed with his father for a 30-day visit and set another hearing for February. CP 314. While A.A. was visiting his father in Idaho, Ms. Wrigley contacted the Department two weeks after A.A.'s placement and allegedly told the social worker that A.A. would be dead within six months if he continued to remain with his father. CP 880.

Ms. Wrigley was informed of the upcoming February hearing, where she would have an opportunity to voice her concerns, but she did not attend the hearing. CP 238, 326. At the hearing, her counsel stated she was in agreement with dismissing the dependency petition, which left A.A. in Mr. Viles' custody. CP 236-87, 336. On February 21, 2012, the Court found that placement with Mr. Viles was in A.A.'s best interest and dismissed the dependency proceeding. CP 206-08. Tragically, in April 2012, Mr. Viles killed A.A.

B. Procedural History

On December 3, 2014, Ms. Wrigley and A.A.'s estate filed this lawsuit. In April 2016, the superior court granted the Department's motion for summary judgment; the court ruled that the Department did not have a

³ The social worker's case note of this conversation with Ms. Wrigley does not reflect that she made this statement. CP 262-63.

duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050 because Ms. Wrigley's concern about future harm was not a referral of abuse by Mr. Viles. CP 1595-99.

In a two-to-one decision, the Court of Appeals reversed summary judgment on the negligent investigation claim, concluding that a duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050 could be triggered by "reports suggesting a reasonable possibility of future abuse or neglect if the placement is made." Wrigley, 5 Wn.App.2d at 929. The court specifically found that Ms. Wrigley's statement that "A.A. would be dead in six months," constituted a report of abuse/neglect triggering the duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050. Reversal was based solely on the implied statutory duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050. The Department's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on January 10, 2019.

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. The Conclusion That RCW 26.44.010 and .050 Require an Investigation of Potential Future Abuse Conflicts With This Court's Precedent

This Court made its most recent statement on the operation of RCW 26.44.050 just two days after the Court of Appeals' decision in this case. In *H.B.H. v. State*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 429 P.3d 484 (2018), the Supreme Court described the statutory framework of the state dependency and foster care system and the operation of RCW 26.44.050 within that system. "The dependency process is initiated when [the Department] receives a report that

a child *has been* abused, neglected, or abandoned. RCW 26.44.050." *H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 165 (emphasis added).

This characterization of the duty implied under RCW 26.44.050 is consistent with the Court's prior interpretation. In *Tyner v. State*, this Court applied the *Bennett v. Hardy* test and concluded that RCW 26.44.050 created an implied cause of action in favor of a parent, as well as a child, to reasonably investigate allegations of abuse or neglect. *Tyner v. State*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 77-79, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000) (citing *Bennett v. Hardy*, 113 Wn.2d 912, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990)).

In determining whether the plaintiff was within the class protected under the statute, the Court examined the legislative intent language in RCW 26.44.010. *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 78. RCW 26.44.010 provides that "the state is justified in emergency intervention based upon *verified information*" (Emphasis added.) RCW 26.44.050 directs the Department to provide a report to the protective services section once a referral has been screened in for investigation. That report ultimately must list the finding as either founded or unfounded. RCW 26.44.030(12). A founded finding means the Department has determined on a more likely

⁴ The report must contain, "(3) the nature and extent of the alleged injury or injuries; (4) the nature and extent of the alleged neglect; (5) the nature and extent of the alleged sexual abuse . . . and (7) any other information that may be helpful in establishing the cause of the child's death, injury, or injuries" RCW 26.44.040.

than not basis "that child abuse or neglect *did occur*." RCW 26.44.020(12) (emphasis added). An unfounded finding means the Department has determined on a more likely than not basis that "abuse or neglect *did not occur*." RCW 26.44.020(26) (emphasis added).

Where a risk of future abuse or neglect is alleged, the Department cannot comply with these sections of RCW 26.44, because it cannot verify whether predicted abuse or neglect has occurred if it has not yet happened. Indeed the Department would be required to make an unfounded finding in every case of potential future abuse because, by definition, the abuse has not yet occurred. Instead, as explained below, an allegation of future abuse or neglect is investigated under RCW 74.13.031(3). Accordingly, it is clear from the statutory scheme as a whole that the duty imposed under RCW 26.44.050—to investigate, verify, and make findings about abuse or neglect—applies only to alleged conduct that has already occurred.

The decision in *M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 70 P.3d 954 (2003), yields the same narrow construction of RCW 26.44.050. In *M.W.*, this Court analyzed whether the implied statutory cause of action supported a claim of general negligence against the Department based on alleged injury to a child by a social worker during the course of an investigation. *Id.* at 598. The Court rejected such expansive liability, concluding that the statutory cause of action under RCW 26.44.050 "is a

narrow exception that is based on, and limited to, the statutory duty" to investigate allegations that a child has been abused or neglected. *Id.* at 601. *M.W.* held that RCW 26.44.050 gives rise to a claim for negligent investigation "only when [the Department] conducts a biased or faulty investigation that leads to a harmful placement decision." *Id.* at 591.

In the context of investigating past allegations of abuse or neglect, this articulation of the Department's duty makes perfect sense. A court cannot deprive a parent of the custody of his child unless a factual basis for doing so exists. The mere possibility of neglect or abuse in the future, by itself, is insufficient as a matter of law to be the basis of the removal of a child from a parent. *See* RCW 13.34.065(5); *In re Custody of ALD*, 191 Wn.App. 474, 478, 363 P.3d 604 (2015) ("due process demands that a parent receive custody of a child unless the parent is unfit or custody of the parent would cause actual detriment to the child's growth and development"); *State v. Nusbaum*, 126 Wn.App. 160, 167, 107 P.3d 768 (2005) (a warrant that is conditioned upon a future event which, if fulfilled, would create probable cause is not actionable unless and until the future event has occurred).

Judge Sutton's dissenting opinion cited both *Tyner* and *M.W.* and correctly analyzed the scope of RCW 26.44:

None of the reports or allegations [from Ms. Wrigley] involve a report of a possible act of sexual abuse, sexual exploitation, or injury of a minor child by Viles under circumstances that would cause harm to a child's health, welfare, or safety. Further, the reports by Jessica do not include allegations of an act or failure to act, or a pattern of behavior that evidences a "serious disregard of consequences of such magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to a child's health, welfare, or safety." RCW 26.44.020(16). Therefore, the allegations do not constitute a "possible occurrence of abuse or neglect" of a minor child by Viles to trigger a duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050.

Wrigley, 5 Wn.App.2d at 940 (Sutton, J., dissenting).

The Court of Appeals' majority opinion conflicts with this Court's direction to narrowly construe the implied statutory cause of action for negligent investigation and limit it to the statutory directives contained in RCW 26.44.010 and .050. *M.W.*, 149 Wn.2d at 601. Undoubtedly, out of respect for a parent's constitutional due process rights to the association and companionship of their children, the Legislature required that the Department investigate and have "verified information" before removing a child from the parent. ⁵ Because it is impossible for the Department to verify that an allegation of abuse or neglect is founded when such abuse or neglect

⁵ See Jones v. Cty. of Los Angeles, 802 F.3d 990, 1000 (9th Cir. 2015), superseded on other grounds by Jones v. Cty. of Los Angeles, 722 F.App'x 634 (9th Cir. 2018) (both the Fourth Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendment provide parents with the right of familial association, such that an official who removes a child from a parent's custody without a warrant must have reasonable cause to believe that a child is likely to experience serious bodily harm in the time it would require to obtain a warrant).

has not yet occurred, the Court of Appeals' decision yields an irrational and unworkable result. By extending the duty to investigate to include potential future abuse or neglect, the court has taken that duty far beyond this Court's direction that the implied statutory cause of action be narrowly construed and limited by the statutory language from which it was extrapolated. Because there is nothing in RCW 26.44 requiring, much less suggesting, that the Department has a duty to verify information and make findings of facts on events that have not yet happened, the Court of Appeals' decision extending the duty to investigate beyond the parameters of the statutory scheme from which it arises conflicts with *Tyner* and *M.W.*

The Court of Appeals' dissenting opinion succinctly stated the proper analysis—"[b]ecause [the Department] never received a report concerning the possible occurrence of child abuse or neglect of the minor child at issue, A.A., by Viles, . . . [the Department] does not have a duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050." *Wrigley*, 5 Wn.App.2d at 940 (Sutton, J., dissenting). In other words, A.A. does not fall within the circumscribed class of persons contemplated by the Legislature to be protected by RCW 26.44.050.⁶ For these reasons, this Court should grant review and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

⁶ As addressed in section V.C. of this Petition, *infra* at 17, the Legislature adopted a different statutory process for addressing "risk only" complaints that is set forth in RCW 74.13.031(3).

B. The Court of Appeals' Conclusion That RCW 26.44.010 and .050 Require an Investigation of Potential Future Abuse Conflicts With the Legislature's Clear Intent That the Department Must Verify and Make Findings About Abuse or Neglect That Has Occurred

In RCW 26.44, the Legislature clearly expressed its intent to task the Department only with investigating allegations of past abuse or neglect. The declaration of purpose section states that "in the instance where a child is deprived of his or her right to . . . health, and safety, the state is justified in emergency intervention *based upon verified information*" and that, as a result of such reports of verified information, "protective services shall be made available in an effort to *prevent further abuses*." RCW 26.44.010 (emphasis added). By using the past tense of "deprive," the Legislature made it clear that the obligation to act begins upon receipt of a referral alleging a child has been or is being "deprived" of health and safety; not upon an allegation that some action in the future might deprive a child of health and safety. This is consistent with the requirement for "verified information" and the distinction that services are intended to prevent "further abuses." *Id*.

The Legislature's intent that RCW 26.44.050 apply to investigation of reports of actual occurrences, not possible future occurrences, is further confirmed by the requirement that the Department must make a determination of whether the allegation is founded or unfounded.

RCW 26.44.030(12)(a). As previously noted, a founded finding is defined as "the determination following an investigation by the department that . . . it is more likely than not that child abuse or neglect *did occur*." RCW 26.44.020(12) (emphasis added). An unfounded finding is defined as "the determination following an investigation by the department that . . . more likely than not, child abuse or neglect *did not occur*, or that there is insufficient evidence for the department to determine whether the alleged child abuse *did or did not occur*." RCW 26.44.020(26) (emphasis added).

Neither a founded nor an unfounded finding can be made regarding abuse that has not happened yet, but might possibly occur in the future. Thus, the statutory framework for CPS investigations clearly supports the conclusion that the Legislature intends RCW 26.44.050 investigations to determine whether abuse has occurred in the past and, if so, what action the Department should take to protect children from further abuse; not whether abuse might possibly occur in the future.

The Court of Appeals' attempt to expand the scope of RCW 26.44.050 by contrasting it with RCW 26.44.030 fails to account for the interaction of the two sections in the statute as a whole. RCW 26.44.030 is comprehensive in addressing the reporting responsibilities of all types of reporters. Persons in mandatory reporter roles "shall report" when there is "reasonable cause to believe that a child *has suffered* abuse or neglect."

RCW 26.44.030(1)(a), (b), (c) (emphasis added); *see also* (d), (e), (f). But the statute also addresses reporting by persons who are not in such roles. "Any other person who has reasonable cause to believe that a child has suffered abuse or neglect may report such incident . . . as provided in RCW 26.44.040." RCW 26.44.030(3) (emphasis added).

It is presumed the statutes relating to the same subject and passed during the same legislative session are imbued with the same spirit and actuated by the same policy, and are to be construed together. *Knack v. Dep't of Ret. Sys.*, 54 Wn.App. 654, 661, 776 P.2d 687 (1989). The definitions in RCW 26.44.020 apply to both the mandatory duty to report and the mandatory duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.030 and .050, respectively.

Because RCW 26.44.030 applies to all types of reporting, not only mandated reporting, its contextual definition of "report" likewise logically applies to all types of reporting. The proper conclusion, therefore, is that the statute's use of the past tense indicates that the Department's duty to investigate applies only to allegations of past incidents of abuse or neglect.

The fact that RCW 26.44.030(11) provides the Department with alternative responses tailored to specific circumstances does not expand the Department's duty to investigate to encompass allegations of future abuse or neglect. As explained below, the Legislature established a separate duty

to investigate those types of allegations, in RCW 74.13.031(3), along with appropriate standards and sidebars to govern such investigations. The Court of Appeals was understandably concerned that the duty to investigate reports of actual abuse or neglect established in RCW 26.44.050 might allow reports of potential dangers to children to be overlooked. But that valid concern does not justify rewriting RCW 26.44.050—which is part of a statutory process established to investigate, verify, and make findings of past abuse or neglect—a process intended to protect children while also respecting the "paramount importance" of the "bond between a child and his or her parent." RCW 26.44.010; *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 78. And there is no justification to rewrite RCW 26.44.050 when the Legislature has separately established in RCW 74.13.031(3) a duty to investigate the types of potential dangers that were of concern to the Court of Appeals.

The meaning of a statute is a question of law to be reviewed *de novo*. When a statute's meaning is plain on its face, the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent. *Jametsky v. Olsen*, 179 Wn.2d 756, 762, 317 P.3d 1003 (2014) (citing *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)). This Court has made it clear that it will avoid reading statutes in a manner that results in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences. *Glaubach v. Regence Blueshield*, 149 Wn.2d 827, 833-34, 74 P.3d 115 (2003). The decision of

the Court of Appeals does not apply the narrow interpretation of RCW 26.44.050 that this Court directed in *H.B.H.*, *Tyner*, and *M.W.* The decision also ignores the more appropriate investigatory process established in RCW 74.13.031(3), and instead requires the Department to investigate, verify, and make findings about events that may or may not occur in the future. Review by this Court is necessary to correct the conflict with this Court's precedent and to avoid the needless waste of limited and important investigative resources of the Department. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

C. RCW 74.13.031(3) is the Proper Statutory Framework for "Risk Only" Allegations

In accordance with due process and common sense, the Legislature set up a different statutory standard and procedure for the Department's investigations of potential future abuse or neglect:

The department shall investigate complaints of any recent act or failure to act on the part of a parent or caretaker that results in death, serious physical or emotional harm, or sexual abuse or exploitation, or that presents an imminent risk of serious harm, and on the basis of the findings of such investigation, offer child welfare services in relation to the problem to such parents, legal custodians, or persons serving in loco parentis, and/or bring the situation to the attention of an appropriate court, or another community agency. An investigation is not required of nonaccidental injuries which are clearly not the result of a lack of care or supervision by the child's parents, legal custodians, or persons serving in loco parentis. If the investigation reveals that a crime against a child may have been committed, the department shall notify the appropriate law enforcement agency.

RCW 74.13.031(3) (emphasis added).

This statute addresses the Court of Appeals' concern: the Department does not have to wait until a child has actually been harmed before it can take action. When a referral is made to the Department alleging that a recent action or inaction of a parent or other caregiver presents an imminent risk of serious harm to a child, the Department has a duty to investigate under this statute. That duty to investigate is paired with the mandate to "offer child welfare services in relation to the problem to such parents." RCW 74.13.031(3).

The critical point is that the Court of Appeals was wrong in believing that if it did not impose a duty to investigate possible future abuse under RCW 26.44, children would be unprotected. Children are specifically protected under RCW 74.13, but only when there is a complaint of a recent action or inaction on the part of a parent, guardian, or custodian that presents an imminent risk of serious harm to their child. Those facts do not exist in this case. Ms. Wrigley's description of prior acts of domestic violence against her and her allegation of risk to A.A. if he remained with Mr. Viles

⁷ The Department has policies that differentiate between the two types of referrals, and separate screening criteria for "risk only" referrals that are consistent with its specific statutory directives. *See* Appendix C, DCYF policy on "risk only" complaints. The full policies are available on the Department's website: DCYF Policy 2541, https://www.dcyf.wa.gov/practices-and-procedures/2541-structured-decision-making-risk-assessmentrsdmra; DCYF Policy 2200, https://www.dcyf.wa.gov/practices-and-procedures/2331-child-protective-services-cps-investigation.

with whom she and A.A. had not had any contact for over 6 years, identified

no recent act or omission by Mr. Viles that presented an imminent risk of

serious harm to A.A. Her allegation, even had she not equivocated in the

trial court, lacked the elements needed to trigger the Department's duty

under RCW 74.13.031(3).

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals' expansion of the duty to investigate in RCW

26.44.050 conflicts with the language and intent of the statute and with

decisions of this Court directing that the duty be narrowly construed. It was

prompted by an erroneous belief that judicial expansion of the statutory duty

was necessary to protect children from harm; in fact, a separate statute

already imposes the duty the Court of Appeals believed was necessary. This

Court should accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals.