A. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Respondents herein rely on the facts set forth in Wrigley v. State, 5 

Wn. App.2d 912-923, 428 P.3d 1279 (2018), as amended (2019).1 The 

statement of facts set forth by DSHS/DCYF is generally accurate, though 

Respondents would make several clarifications (which are probably not all 

that relevant for the state's issues). 

The state claimed, Petitioners' Brief (PBrief) at 19, that Mrs. Wrigley 

"equivocated in the trial court" as to A.A. going to live with Mr. Viles and 

that in Mrs. Wrigley's absence her attorney said she "ha[ d] no strong position 

either way'' on placement with Mr. Viles. PBrief at 5-6. Mrs. Wrigley 

missed the court hearing due to car trouble, CP 262, and Mr. Watson's notes 

indicate she was in tears when she spoke to Mr. Watson about A.A. being 

with Viles. Id. Mrs. Wrigley said she called the social worker "hysterical" 

that A.A. was with Viles. On a summary judgment motion, the court should 

consider Mrs. Wrigley's statement to be accurate and her attorney's to have 

been mistaken, especially since (in his client's absence) he said he had 

limited authority to speak. CP 306. 

1 The amendment, irrelevant for present purposes, may not have been 
completely effectuated. The order amending opinion dated February 20, 
2019, amended 5 Wn. App.2d at 921 by replacing "an excusable neglect" 
with "inexcusable neglect". Westlaw, however, reads as of this writing "an 
inexcusable neglect," the "an" having been incorrectly retained. The 
undersigned is uncertain if the error lies with Westlaw or the court, but he did 
bring the matter to the attention of West law on the date below stated. 
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The State suggests that Viles' criminal history did not reveal many 

convictions, as opposes to arrests, and that his last conviction for violent 

assaultive behavior had occurred 11 years earlier as a juvenile. PBrief at 4. 

While the State is accurate, it confuses the high burden of proof necessary for 

a criminal conviction with the low standard of proof-"reasonable cause to 

believe"-necessary to remove a child from its parents at a shelter care 

hearing. RCW 13.34.065(5). The fact that Mr. Viles threatened someone 

who was probably a relative with breaking his neck, just a moth before A.A. 

was placed with him, Wrigley v. State, 5 Wn. App.2d at 914, certainly 

suggests on a summary judgment motion that social worker Watson's failure 

to competently investigate led to A.A.'s death. And it also shows that 

Defendant Watson disregarded A.A.'s "right to conditions of basic nurture, 

health, or safety". RCW 13.34.020. 

B. SUMMARY OF RESPONSE 

RCW 26.44.010 sets forth the "Declaration of Purpose" of chapter 

26.44 RCW, stating in part that children have "the right to conditions of 

minimal nurture, health, and safety". 2 Similarly, in the dependency process, 

the legislative declaration of the rights of a child are that a child has the "right 

2 In what might be considered a strategic abbreviation, and probably 
recognizing the implications of the language, the State in its brief omitted the 
words "conditions of minimal nurture". PBrief at 13. 
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to conditions of basic nurture, [physical and mental] health, [and] safety." 

RCW 13.34.020. The Court below held: 

To conclude, the phrase "reports concerning the possible 
occurrence of abuse or neglect" in former RCW 26.44.050 
contemplates both reports of incidents that have already 
occurred and reports suggesting a reasonable possibility of 
future abuse or neglect if the placement decision is made. 

Wrigley v. State, 5 Wn. App.2d at 931. In so doing, the court recognized that 

when A.A. was placed with Mr. Viles, his nurture-not to mention his 

physical and mental health and his safety-in the Viles home was within the 

scope of the concerns of chapter 26.44 RCW and thus ofRCW 26.44.050. 

C. RESPONSE TO STATE 

I. Precedent. The decision of the Court of Appeals below does not 

conflict with the court's precedent. The State quotes H.B.H. v. State, l 92 

Wn.2d 154,165,429 P.3d 484 (2018) "The dependency process is initiated 

when [the Department] receives a report that a child has been abused, 

neglected, or abandoned. RCW 26.44.050." (Emphasis added by State.) The 

foregoing quote is inapplicable to the present case because the dependency 

case was already in process. Moreover, while the H,B.li quote is generally 

correct, it is not entirely accurate. The "depeodency process" is found in 

chapter 13.34 RCW, not in chapter 26.44 RCW. Moreover the RCW 

26.44.050 investigation might be initiated by a report to the police. 
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TheStatecorrectlycitesM. W. v. DSHS, 149Wn.2d 589,591, 70P.3d 

954 (2003) that RCW 26.44.050 gives rise to a claim for negligent 

investigation "only when [the Department] conducts a biased or faulty 

investigation that leads to a harmful placement decision." PBrief at 10. 

Defendant Watson clearly conducted a biased or faulty investigation of Mr. 

Viles that led to a harmful placement decision. 

What the State overlooks is that the concern for A.A's welfare that 

Mr.Watson should have had required consideration of the nurturing, physical 

and mental health and safety of A.A. in the Viles home. The very fact that 

Mr. Viles dragged A.A.' s mother up the stairs by her hair suggests that the 

Viles home might be deficient in nurturing, mental health and safety. And 

the fact that Mr. Viles had just threatened a male relative to break his neck 

does not suggest A.A. was being placed inn a nurturing home where his right 

to mental health or his safety would be met. 

2. Verified Findings. R CW 26 .44. 010 states in full as to the declaration 

of purpose of the chapter: 

The Washington state legislature finds and declares: The bond 
between a child and his or her parent, custodian, or guardian 
is of paramount importance, and any intervention into the life 
of a child is also an intervention into the life of the parent, 
custodian, or guardian; however, instances of nonaccidental 
injury, neglect, death, sexual abuse and cruelty to children by 
their parents, custodians or guardians have occurred, and in 
the instance where a child is deprived of his or her right to 
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conditions of minimal nurture, health, and safety, the state is 
justified in emergency intervention based upon verified 
information; and therefore the Washington state legislature 
hereby provides for the reporting of such cases to the 
appropriate public authorities. It is the intent of the legislature 
that, as a result of such reports, protective services shall be 
made available in an effort to prevent further abuses, and to 
safeguard the general welfare of such children. When the 
child's physical or mental health is jeopardized, or the safety 
of the child conflicts with the legal rights of a parent, 
custodian, or guardian, the health and safety interests of the 
child should prevail. When determining whether a child and 
a parent, custodian, or guardian should be separated during or 
immediately following an investigation of alleged child abuse 
or neglect, the safety of the child shall be the department's 
paramount concern. Reports of child abuse and neglect shall 
be maintained and disseminated with strictest regard for the 
privacy of the subjects of such reports and so as to safeguard 
against arbitrary, malicious or erroneous information or 
actions. This chapter shall not be construed to authorize 
interference with child-raising practices, including reasonable 
parental discipline, which are not proved to be injurious to the 
child's health, welfare and safety. 

As noted previously, the state's strategic abbreviation of its selection from 

RCW 26.44.050 obscures the breadth of the legislature's purpose in RCW 

26.44. Moreover, RCW 26.44.015, states the "limitations", none of which 

apply to the state's reading ofRCW 26.44.050. Importantly, the basis of the 

need for "verified information" occurs when there is a "emergency 

intervention" into the child's life and that protective services should be 

provided "to prevent further abuses" and "to safeguard the general welfare" 

of the child. 
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Mr. Viles had already agreed to shelter care in this case. Since 

emergency intervention had already occurred, which Mr. Viles had not 

opposed, there is no requirement in RCW 26.44.010 that preventing "further 

abuses" applies only to the parent that initially abuse the child. Moreover, the 

comment that the child "general welfare" be safeguarded is not limited to he 

parent from whom the child was initially removed. 

The state claims the Court of Appeals expanded the scope of chapter 

26.44 RCW. On the contrary, the state fails to recognize the scope of chapter 

26.44 RCW in its attempt to avoid liability for the tragic consequences that 

flowed from the inaction of its employee defendant Watson. 

3. "Risk Only" Allegations. The state mistakenly attempts to separate 

chapter 26.44 RCW from RCW 74.13.031. In doing so the state attempts to 

create a "crack" into which A.A. fell and into which all such children in the 

same circumstances would also fall. As the DSHS attempts to construe this 

statue, child welfare services in a "risk only" situation exist when there is a 

"imminent risk of serious harm." 

In RCW 26.44.050, imminent risk of serious harm is the basis for 

removing a child from their parents. By claiming that RCW7 4.13 .031 should 

apply, the department only introduces a confusion into the matter when there 

is an imminent risk of serious harm. In following RCW74.13.031, the 
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department would create the "crack" into which A.A. fell and from which he 

never returned. Rather, the protection of children envisioned in RCW 

26.44.010 is only and best met by the decision of the Court of Appeals. 

D. CONCLUSION 

Respondents request the Court d\ll1-:t+:~t~P&ition. · · · -:;,